JAN 6 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

RONALD WAYNE CLARK, JR.,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. 77,553

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. MCLAIN #201170
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

The state filed an information charging Ronald Wayne Clark with second degree murder and armed robbery of Ronald Willis.

(R 12) A Duval County grand jury returned an indictment on March 22, 1990 charging Clark with first degree murder and armed robbery for the same offense. (R 20-21) The state dismissed the information. (R 19, TR 10) The grand jury returned an amended indictment for first degree murder and armed robbery on August 23, 1990. (R 86-87, TR 38) The state dismissed the first indictment. (R 38) Clark pleaded not guilty to the indictment on August 27, 1990. (TR 38) The jury trial commenced on January 22, 1998. (TR 65-66)

The first degree murder count was submitted to the jury on both premeditation and felony murder theories. (R 150-151, TR 701, 728) The jury found Clark guilty of first degree felony murder, rejecting the premeditated murder of prosecution. (R 181, TR 756) Clark was also found guilty of armed robbery with a firearm. (R 183, TR 756)

After the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended a death sentence for the murder. (R 185, TR 822) Circuit Judge David C. Wiggins adjudged Clark guilty of murder and armed robbery. (R 198-199) He sentenced Clark to death for the murder and to life imprisonment for the armed robbery. (R 200-202) In his findings of fact in support of the death sentence, the trial judge found three aggravating circumstances: (1) Clark had a previous conviction for first degree murder; (2) the

homicide occurred during a robbery: and (3) the homicide was committed for pecuniary gain. (R 203-210) The court found no mitigating circumstances. (R 210-213) Clark filed his notice of appeal to this court on February 27, 1991. (R 220)

The Facts -- Guilt Phase

On January 13, 1990, Ronald Willis was missing. His exwife, Debra Willis, whom he was again dating, and her sister, Sandra Hardy, began driving around looking for him. (TR 300, 319-320) The women decided to drive by places where they thought Willis may have gone to shoot pool. (TR 300, 321) As they drove past the Oasis Motel, Sandra Hardy recognized Willis' truck parked in front, (R 301, 321) Hardy parked her car in such a way as to block the truck from moving. (R 301-302) She started yelling for Ron and asking where Ron Willis was. (TR 303-304, 323) A man came to the truck, said the child who was sitting inside was his, and he took him from the truck. (R 304, 323-324) The man was later identified as Joseph Strickland. (TR 306, 323-324, 428-429) Strickland pointed out Ronald Clark and John Hatch to the women as the two men who were driving the truck. (R 429) The women locked the doors to the truck and Sandra took the keys. (TR 304, 325)

After Strickland left with his child, Debra Hardy went inside the landlady's office to call the police. (R 306)

Another man approached Debra Willis. (TR 326) She identified Ronald Clark in the court as that man. (TR 326) The man asked her where Ron was. (TR 326) She told him she didn't know and,

in turn, asked him the same question. (TR 326) The man grabbed her and tried to take the keys from her. (TR 326-327) She kicked him in the groin, and he ran. (TR 327-328, 306-308) Sandra Hardy ran after the man and tried to grab him when he fell. (TR 308) As she was grabbing for his leg, she noticed that he was wearing boots that belonged to Ron Willis. (TR 308-309) The man got up and continued to run toward a minute market where the other man, John Hatch was located. (TR 309-310)

Police Sergeant Jerry Jesonek found and interviewed Joseph Strickland. (TR 540-541) Strickland testified that he had known John Hatch since Junior Highschool. (TR 421) Hatch and Clark came to Strickland's house on January 13, 1990, driving a black Dodge Ram truck. (TR 421-423) They wanted to buy marijuana. (TR 423) Strickland sold them \$70 worth, Clark paid \$50 and Hatch \$20, (TR 424) While at Strickland's house, John Hatch pulled a gun and began showing it off. (TR 425) At one point, Hatch and Clark argued about ownership of the gun. (TR 425) Clark was asking for the gun and Hatch was refusing to hand it over until he was paid money for the gun. (TR 425-426) Clark and Hatch were also talking about renting a motel room. (TR 426) Strickland offered to show them a place where they could rent **a** room for \$60 a week. (TR 426) Strickland agreed to accompany Hatch and Clark to the Oasis Motel, which was a short distance from his house. (TR 427-428) The three men were talking to the landlady when two women pulled in behind the black truck. (TR 428) Strickland said that John Hatch was

driving the truck when they arrived in his yard. (TR 433) Hatch had told Strickland that the truck belonged to him and tried to sell it Strickland for \$800. (TR 433) Clark also had a injury on his hand which was bleeding, and he put the hand to his clothing which left blood stains. (TR 433-434) Strickland saw Hatch in possession of the firearm in his yard when he tried to sell the gun to Strickland's brother, Tommy Conn. (TR 434) Conn test fired the gun in the yard. (TR 435) Strickland said that Clark and Hatch had been consuming alcohol and were under the influence but not intoxicated. (TR 426-427, 435) Strickland said when the women hollered for the driver of the truck, he went to the truck to get his son. (TR 429) He told the women to ask Clark and Hatch about the driver of the truck. (TR 429-430) He saw the confrontation between one of the women and Ronald Clark. (TR 430) Strickland then obtained a ride home from someone at a nearby convenience store. (TR 430-431)

Several items of evidence were recovered from the truck and from the wooded area off of a dirt road called Bird Road.

(TR 272-294, 324-325, 338-365) Steve Leary, an FDLE laboratory analyst assisted in processing the scenes. (TR 336) From the truck, he found a wallet with business cards and other paper items; a hand gun and a cartridge clip containing two unfired cartridges; a brown paper bag from Walmart; a Budweiser cardboard six-pack holder; swabbings of various parts of the truck with suspected blood stains; latent fingerprints from the rear view mirror and the exterior right door window. (TR 351-365) At the location an Bird Road, Leary recovered some bank

checks with Ron Willis' name on them and other paper items; a plaid shirt; a portion of a set of dentures; an ink pen; an empty cartridge casing; a bank statement with the name Ron Willis. (TR 338-350) Serology testing disclosed the presence of human blood from various paper items recovered at the scene, (TR 390) and from a stain on the carpet in truck. (TR 395) There was positive result for a presumptive test for blood of some kind from a pen found at the scene and from the bed of the pickup truck. (TR 391-392-393-394) However, these stains were of insufficient quantity to determine the origin of the blood, human or animal. (TR 391, 394) There was no blood present on the firearm. (TR 397) A blood splatter analyst examined the truck. (TR 368-373) Based on blood stains he found in the truck, he concluded that the body was possibly removed from the driver's side of the vehicle. (TR 375) An examination of the latent fingerprints showed that two latent prints from the rear view mirror of the truck matched Ronald Clark's. (TR 410-415) Latent fingerprint found on a beer can, and a box of men's underwear, found inside the truck, matched David Hatch's prints. (TR 415-418) A test firing of the pistol found inside the truck showed that the cartridge casing recovered from Bird Road was fired from the pistol found in the truck. (TR 377-382) The plaid shirt found on the roadway scene also was covered with blood. (TR 275, 288)

On January 20, 1990, David Hatch was arrested in Nassau County. (TR 547) He gave a statement to police implicating Ronald Clark and himself in the homicide of Ronald Willis. (TR

548-553) Hatch subsequentially agreed to plead guilty to second degree murder in exchange for his testimony against Ronald Clark. (TR **436-439)** He was to receive a sentence of 25 years imprisonment. (TR **438)**

Hatch got off work around 5:00 on January 12, 1990. (TR 440) Because he was riding home with someone else, he did not return home until two hours later. (TR 440) When he arrived, Ronald Clark, his close friend of twelve years was sitting outside. (TR 438, 440-441) This was the common way the two men got together. (TR 441) They decided to hitch-hike to Jackson-ville from Hatch's home in Yulee to shoot pool. (TR 441) Hatch showed Clark a pistol he had stolen that day from a home where he was working on a remodeling job. (TR 442) Hatch stole the gun to sell it to catch up on the child support payments. (TR 442) The men then shot the gun at signs and beer bottles while they were hitchhiking. (TR 443) Hatch said that Clark had the gun. (TR 443-444) Clark had agreed to buy the gun when he had the money.

Ron Willis stopped and gave Clark and Hatch and ride near the Nassau/Duval county line. (TR 444) Willis was driving a black Ram Dodge pickup truck. (TR 444) According to Hatch, Clark had the gun in his possession at this time. Willis told the men that they looked like someone he knew from Amelia island. (TR 445) He gave them a ride anyway. (TR 445) Hatch was sitting in the middle of the seat and Clark was sitting on the passenger side of the vehicle. (TR 445) At one point, Clark whispered, saying that he was going to have to take the

man's truck when they stopped. (TR 445-446) Hatch said that he and Clark had already consumed a twelve-pack of beer, but they were able to realize and com- prehend things going on around them. (TR 446) He stated that Clark appeared to know what he was doing at that time. (T 447) John Hatch had Willis stop the truck at a point past a Lil' Champ foodstore. (TR 501) Hatch made the decision where to have Willis stop the truck. (TR 502) There were no lights in the area where he stopped. (TR 503) (TR 447-448) According to Hatch, Clark then got of the truck, and Hatch got out of the truck and walked toward the back of the vehicle. (TR 448) At that point, Clark started shooting Willis as he was inside the truck. (TR 449) Clark shot seven or eight times. (TR 449) Hatch said that Clark turned the gun around on him and said, "Let's 90." (TR 449) Clark drove the truck, Willis was slumped over in the middle of the seat and Hatch sat on the passenger side of the truck. (TR 449) They drove down to the end of Bird Road. (TR 450) Clark stopped the truck, grabbed Willis by the shirt and pulled him out of the truck. (TR 450) Hatch said that Willis' shirt came off in the process. (TR 450) Clark went through Willis' pockets and took his wallet, (TR 450-452) Clark also took the victim's cowboy boots. (TR 452) They left Willis' body in the ditch. (TR 453)

The two men then drove to Jackie's Seafood Restaurant, had a mixed drink, then drove to Rosemont Apartments to see Hatch's ex-wife. (TR 453-454) The men got involved in a fight with some other people at the apartments. (TR 454-455) Clark possessed the pistol at that time, and he pointed it at one of

Hatch's friends, Chris Swearinger, (TR 455) Billy Joe Beaman, Hatch's sister-in-law, asked Ronnie to put the gun away and to leave. (TR 455) The men left and drove back to Bird Road. (TR 456) Clark decided that they should take the body to a different location where it would not be discovered as quickly. (TR 456-457) Clark suggested they should dump the body in a river. (TR 457) Hatch and Clark placed the body in the back of the truck, drove to Clark's father and stepmother's house in Yulee where they obtained rope and cinder blocks. (TR 457-458) They drove to the Nassau County Sound Bridge. (TR 458) Clark tied rope around the body and blocks to the rope. (TR 459) They drove to the highest part of the bridge, and dumped the body into the water, (TR 459-460) The men then drove toward McIntosh, Georgia, heading out of state. (TR 461) However, they decided to return to the Jacksonville area. (TR 462) They washed the truck, stopped at a Walmart and bought some clothes, and ate at a McDonald's restaurant. (TR 462) They proceeded to a girl's house in Oceanway where Clark again got into an argument. (TR 467) He became angry and tore the air conditioner vents out of the truck and pushed in the front end of the truck. (TR 467-468) Clark said that he wanted to find some dope. (TR 468) They drove to Joe Strickland's house. (TR 469) Hatch drove the truck and told Strickland it was his. (TR 469) Hatch talked to Strickland about selling the pistol. (TR 469) They also asked Strickland to obtain some marijuana for them, (TR 469) Strickland theq offered to help find them a place to stay and went with them to Oasis Motel. (TR 470) A women

parked behind the truck and asked about Ronald Willis. (TR 470) Clark panicked, Clark and Hatch went out the windows of the cottage they were looking at. (TR 471) Clark went back to the truck because the keys and the gun were still inside the truck. (TR 471) Hatch did not see what happened at the truck. (TR 471) Clark met up with him in a wooded area, and they went back to Yulee, walking the railroad tracks. (TR 472) The two men made plans to leave the state and Hatch, Clark, Clark's girlfriend, Tracy, and Clark's stepmother did leave the state. (TR 473) Tracy and Clark's stepmother returned to Florida. (TR 473) Hatch and Clark went to South Carolina. (TR 473) They separated and Hatch returned to Nassau County. (TR 474) He was arrested, and Detective Jesonek of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office questioned him about the homicide. (TR 474-475)

Two witnesses testified to seeing Clark in possession of the firearm on January 12, 1990. (TR 521, 529) Mary Hatch, John Hatch's mother, saw Hatch and Clark handling the firearm before they left her house around 8:30 p.m. (TR 521-525) She stated they were both handling the firearm, but Clark had the gun in his possession at the time they left. (TR 525-527) Billy Joe Beaman lives in Rosemont Apartments and is John Hatch's sister-in-law. (TR 529-530) She said in the late hours of January 12th or the early morning hours of January 13, 1990, Hatch and Clark came to her aunt's house. (TR 531) They were in a black truck which Hatch was driving. (TR 531) Ronald Clark had a gun in his possession at that time. (TR 531)

Detective Jesonek arranged a telephone call to Clark in South Carolina on January 19th through Clark's girlfriend, Tracy Cramer. (TR 574-575) Clark told Jesonek he had been involved in a murder and that he had fled the state of Florida. (TR 576) Clark was arrested in South Carolina on February 7, 1990. (TR 577) Jesonek interviewed him the day of his arrest. (TR 578-582) Jesonek had already obtained a written statement from John Hatch sometime earlier. (TR 587) Clark's written statement gave a version of the homicide in which David Hatch was the triggerman. (TR 582-586) He stated that he and David Hatch were drinking beer and decided to stop a car that passed. (TR 582-583) Hatch said that he was going to take the first car that stopped. (TR 583) Ronald Willis stopped to give them a ride. (TR 583) Hatch asked Willis to stop the vehicle at a point between Pecan Park and Bird Road on US-17. (TR 583) Clark stated that he got out of the vehicle first and walked toward the back of the truck when he heard at least $\sin x$ gun shots. (TR 583) He saw Hatch standing in the passenger door shooting Ron Willis. (TR 583) Willis' head was laying back against the driver's door panel and window. (TR 583) Hatch took over the driving of the truck, and Clark got into the passenger side. Hatch drove dawn the dirt part of Bird Road. (TR 583) Hatch and Clark then put Willis in the ditch. (TR 584) They left the Bird Road area, went to Jackie's Seafood where Hatch showed Clark some money and gave him over \$100 that he had taken from Willis. (TR 584) They went to Rosemont Apartments and finally back to Bird Road where they loaded

Willis' body in the bed of the truck. (TR 584) Clark stated that he saw bullet holes in Willis' face, jaw and neck. (TR 584) They drove back to Yulee and obtained concrete blocks and some rope. (TR 584) They drove into Duval County. (TR 584) Hatch tied a rope around Willis and Clark tied two concrete blocks to the rope. (TR 584) They drove to the bridge over the sound and parked on the bridge. (TR 585) Hatch threw the blocks over the side of the bridge and Clark said he noticed Willis' foot was caught between the truck and the rail of the bridge. (TR 585) Hatch kicked Willis' foot and the body went over into the water. (TR 585)

The men then drove to Georgia, they bought some clothes at a Walmart and ultimately drove back to Jacksonville. (TR 585)

Hatch and Clark then drove to Joe Strickland's house, where they bought a bag of marijuana. (TR 585) Hatch and Strickland also shot the pistol at that location. (TR 585) Strickland accompanied Hatch and Clark to the Oasis Motel. (TR 585) Two blond women approached the truck and Clark and Hatch ran behind the Lil' Champ foodstore. (TR 586) Clark stated that Hatch convinced him to go back and try to get the truck and the gun. (TR 586) He confronted one of the women, she kicked him, and he ran away. (TR 586)

Detective Jesonek said that Clark also made a statement during the prestatement interview. (TR 587-589) Clark allegedly described the location of the impact of the bullets on the face and side of the neck of the victim. (TR 589) He also described the reactive physical movements. (TR 589) Jesonek

obtained a letter that Clark had written to his girlfriend, Tracy Cramer. (TR 590-592) Jesonek read a portion of the letter to the jury, his testimony was as follows:

The portion of the letter says, but I think I will never see you on the outside again. Later he states, I know how much I fucked up but that's all we're ever going to be, It so hard now. I'm sorry I misread it. It says it's so hard knowing, ain't it, I'm not going to get to see you on the outside again. I can't figure a way out of this, but I don't see any way out. I am probably going to run.

(TR 592).

Two Nassau County deputies testified to statements Clark allegedly made while being transported in a patrol car. (TR 603, 612) Dolan Thomason testified that on November 2, 1990, Clark was being transported to the county jail. (TR 603-605) William Brown, chief of the jail, was also in the car. (TR 613) Clark allegedly said he was worried about the victim's father killing him. (TR 605) He said that after he killed Ron Willis, he didn't realize it was father's friend and his girlfriend's mother's friend until after the killing. (TR 605-606) According to Thomason, Clark used the words "I killed him." (TR 606) Thomason did not write a written report about this statement and did not tell anyone about it until approximately six weeks after it occurred. (TR 607-608)

Williams Brown testified about overhearing the statement in the car. (TR 612-619) Brown knew the victim's family and the victim, and he knew Clark's family and Clark from the time that he ran a service station in Yulee, (TR 614, 618-619) He

heard Clark make an unsolicited statement in the patrol car. (TR 615-617) Clark allegedly said that he looked at the pictures in the man's wallet after he shot him and realized the man was his father's friend and a friend of his girlfriend's mother. (TR 617-618) Brown never wrote the statement down. (TR 620-621) The first time he mentioned it to anyone was when the prosecutor talked to him on the telephone a few weeks earlier. (TR 621-622)

Ronald Clark testified on his own behalf at trial. (TR 646-663) Initially, Clark stated that he was medication at the time of his testimony, Thorazine and Prozac. (TR 647-648) Clark said that the written statement he gave law enforcement, State's Exhibit #39, is truthful. (TR 648-649) He knew of Ronald Willis, and when he saw the pictures, he knew that Willis knew his father. (TR 649) He had seen Willis with his father at the Lil' Champ store in the past. (TR 649) Clark said he saw where Willis had been shot when he and Hatch were loading the body in the back of the truck. (TR 649-650) That was the first time he was able to see where the bullets actually struck the man. (TR 650) At the time of actual shooting, Clark turned around just as Hatch was shooting Willis, (TR 649) He denied ever saying in the presence of Brown or Thomason that he had killed Ronald Willis. (TR 650) Clark admitted he was involved in the murder, and that he assisted in tying the rope around the concrete blocks that were used to weight the body. (TR 652-656) Clark said David Hatch had control of the gun during the night January 12, 1990. (TR 651-652)

Closing Arguments & Jury Instructions

The prosecutor presented the case to the jury on the theory of premeditated murder and felony murder during the course of a robbery. Although he contended that Ronald Clark was the actual killer, he explained to the jury that he could be guilty of felony murder even if he was not the actual killer. His explanation proceeded as follows:

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