IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD WAYNE CLARK, JR.,

Appellant,

ν.

CASE NO. 77,553

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

SID J. WHITE

FEB 19 1992

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT

Chief Deputy Chief

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS **The** Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellant does not challenge his guilt and raises four challenges to his death sentence.

Claim one alleges that Clark should have been compelled to put on ${\bf a}$ defense whether he wanted one or not. This clearly is not the law.

Claim two alleges, without record support, that the trial judge "doubled" two aggravating factors despite telling the jury not to do so.

Claim three is a meritless challenge to the admission of hearsay evidence, during the penalty phase, regarding his prior murder conviction. The issue is clearly devoid of merit.

Claim four questions the trial court's sentencing decision of grounds of proportionality, disparate sentencing and alleged "mitigating" evidence. All these claims lack factual and/or legal support.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING A COMPETENT DEFENDANT TO EXERCISE HIS RIGHTS DURING TRIAL.

Mr. Clark's first point on appeal actually raises three separate claims. First, Clark alleges that the trial court "erred" in allowing him to make a strategic decision regarding his own defense. Second, Clark alleges that the jury did not make an informed decision. Third, Clark alleges that the trial judge violated Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) and Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982). We will dispose of each of these arguments in order.

(A) Failure to force the defendant to call witnesses

The constitutional right to trial by jury belongs to the defendant, not the state. It is, therefore, the defendant's right to exercise or waive that constitutional right, free from the heavy, paternalistic, hand of the state. The fact that a defendant may have a defense or arguably "might" win a trial does not lessen the defendant's ability to choose. Allen v. Rodriguez, 372 F.2d 116 (10th Cir.1967); Lo Conte v. Dugger, 847 F.2d 745 (11th Cir.1988); United States v. Buckley, 847 F.2d 991 (1st Cir.1988).

When a defendant elects to waive trial, the duty of the trial court is to conduct an appropriate inquiry prior to accepting any plea. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). A similar duty of inquiry attaches when a defendant simply elects

not to put on evidence during the penalty phase. **Henry** v. State, 16 F.L.W. S593 (Fla.1991). 1

Although some nebulous "interest of society" (in the spectacle of a full trial) has been alleged, the notion has been rejected because the "right" in question belongs to the defendant personally. Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla.1987); Anderson v. State, 574 So.2d 87 (Fla.1991). Similarly, the exercise of Mr. Clark's rights, by Mr. Clark, is not "suicide," because Clark still must qualify for the death penalty before it can be imposed. Mere agreement with a lawful sentence is not "suicide." Gilmore v. Utah, 429 U.S. 1012 (1976).

Mr. Clark cites to Klokoc v. **State, 16** F.L.W. S756 (Fla.1991) for the proposition that Courts can and should intervene in the conduct of an unwise defense and force parties into litigation whether they seek it or not. Again, this argument suggests that the people's constitutional "rights" are not their own but, rather, belong to some benevolent higher authority who, in turn, "tells us how **Lo** exercise them."

Klakoc, supra, would violate fundamental constitutional concepts if it stood for such a bizarre approach to the constitution. In point of fact, **Klokoc** does not stand for the proposition Mr. Clark suggests.

We would also direct the Court's a tention to the record and decisions in **Agan v. State**, 445 So.2d 326 (Fla.1983); Agan v. State, 503 So.2d 1254 (Fla.1987) and Agan v. **Dugger**, 508 So.2d 11 (Fla.1987). Mr. Agan preempted counsel and waived both phases of his capital trial.

Mr. Klokoc murdered his innocent nineteen year old daughter as an act of vengeance towards his estranged wife. Klokoc did not Cooperate with his attorney but he apparently did cooperate with another, specially appointed, attorney. Klokoc also represented himself and cross-examined penalty phase witnesses. Klokoc again refused to cooperate with appellate counsel. Therefore, it is not apparent that Klokoc did not want to defend himself.

We submit that this Court's action in the Klokoc case stemmed from this Court's separate, statutory, duty to review every death penalty. Pettit v. State, 17 F.L.W. (Fla.1992). The **Klokoc** case, therefore, is factually and legally different from the one at bar, and thus does not warrant the relief sought by Mr. Clark.

(B) The jury's "informed" decision

In any courtroom proceeding jurors only learn facts proffered by the parties. It would be surreal to suggest that juries must be given every possible fact supporting every possible theory of defense - even if inconsistent - so that they can be "fully" informed.

We do not know what the advisory jury would have been told or what rebuttal or cross-examination the state would have utilized in response. For example, we do not know how Dr. Macaluso would have withstood impeachment or cross-examination, nor do we know how persuasive other doctors - who found Mr. Clark sane and competent - would have been if their testimony was inconsistent with the record or their diagnoses of sanity.

Johnson v. Dugger, 16 F.L.W. S459 (Fla.1991); Sochor v. State, 16 F.L.W. S297 (Fla.1991); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir.1989); Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir.1988).

Mr. Clark displayed a detailed memory of the events leading up to, during and after this crime, that is inconsistent with any intoxication, "blackout" or other mental mitigating factor. Since this was not Mr. Clark's first capital murder, "character" evidence would also have been futile. Mr. Clark was obviously aware of this since he had already received one sentence of death, and, as he observed, did not impress the jury or the court in that other case. Thus, Clark cannot demonstrate either error in not offering evidence or any resulting prejudice.

(C) The judge's decision

Finally, Clark's brief cites **Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586** (1978) and **Eddings** v. Oklahoma, **455** U.S. 104 (1982) for the proposition that judges must not only "consider" all mitigating evidence, but must insure its production and presentation as well. This novel theory enjoys no legal support.

Under Clark's theory, judges would cease to function as neutral and detached magistrates. Instead, judges would be part of the defense team, overseeing all strategic decisions and supervising the investigation of the case. Judges are not second-tier defense attorneys and Clark's suggestion cannot be taken seriously.

The duty of the trial judge was to examine that mitigating evidence which the defendant wanted him to consider. Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18 (Fla.1979). In Agan v. State, 445 So.2d 326

(Fla.1983), the trial judge was found not to have committed Lockett error by "failing" to consider factors proffered by Agan's counsel, just as the trial judge at bar carefully reviewed the trial record and the expert evaluations proffered by counsel. Still, in our case as in Agan, the evidence did not reasonably establish any nonstatutory or statutory mitigation and no evidence was proffered by the defense. Mr. Clark was not insane, incompetent or impaired, His own experts removed the prospect of such a defense even without cross-examination or impeachment by the state.

It should be kept in mind, however, that Mr. Clark did not want his assorted evaluations offered as mitigating evidence.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT.

Mr. Clark's second point on appeal is another stream-of-consciousness essay which begins by discussing whether certain aggravating factors were "doubled" and then drifts off into a discourse on Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla.1990).

Mr. Clark told the trial court he did not want to offer or rely upon any mitigating evidence of any kind. When the court published its sentencing decision, Clark did not object on the basis of Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1988) or Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla.1990). As such, he cannot raise either issue on appeal. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla.1978); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla.1982). Certainly Mr. Clark cannot be allowed to manufacture his own error, thus disrupting the State's effort to secure justice.

Without waiving this point, we would note that the trial judge instructed the advisory jury that it could not apply both the "robbery" and "pecuniary gain" factors due to the prohibition against "doubling" aggravating factors. (TR 816). It is presumed that the judge did not act in disregard of his own instructions. See Card v. Dugger, 512 So.2d 829 (Fla.1987); Spaziano v. Dugger, 557 So.2d 1372 (Fla.1990).

Thus, even though both of these factors were found, the silence of the sentencing order does not indicate that they were separately applied.

Regarding Campbell, supra, we would note that no mitigating factors were established, or even offered, by Mr. Clark. Although the trial court reviewed the record, there was nothing pertinent to discuss given Clark's waiver. Alsa, Campbell, on its face, was drafted to assist trial judges in passing sentence and not to create a new "procedural escape hatch." Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla.1971) for the guilty to obstruct justice.

It $i\,s$ clear that Mr. Clark cannot raise these issues on appeal and certainly cannot allege or show any error.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING "HEARSAY" TESTIMONY.

During the penalty phase of Clark's trial the court heard testimony regarding Clark's other capital murder case. Clark, of course, confronted the witness (Lt. Calhoun), as well as David Hatch and Brian Corbett, during that trial and certainly had the right — as well as the ability — to cross—examine Calhoun or utilize that trial record in response to Calhoun's testimony.

Clark offered nothing on his own behalf and Clark's conviction (guilt) and sentence of death in the other capital murder case clearly did exist. Thus, Clark's complaint involves the use of "hearsay," the content of which he does not even dispute. The admission of this evidence was proper. **Dragovich** v. State, 492 So.2d 350 (Fla.1986); Perri v. State, 441 So.2d 606 (Fla.1983).

Given Clark's refusal to put on any mitigating evidence, his newly discovered concern for "due process" rings hollow indeed. To grant Clark a new penalty phase proceeding before a new jury would be the epitome of injustice. Clark's post-trial desire to change his strategy should not be entertained, much less indulged. Corry v. Wilson, 405 F.2d 110 (9th Cir.1968).

ARGUMENT: ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO DEATH.

The Appellant's final argument on appeal actually raises several distinct arguments relating to the propriety of his death sentence. First, Mr. Clark alleges that "a premeditated murder, during the commission of another felony, simply does not qualify for the death penalty." (Brief, at 40). Second, Clark alleges that the record establishes several "mitigating factors" which were not properly considered by the court. Third, Clark suggests that he and his codefendant have received disparate treatment.

Mr. Clark does not challenge the two significant statutory aggravating factors relied upon by the trial judge. The murder at bar was committed in the course of a robbery. The murder, in addition, was Clark's second capital crime. No mitigating

evidence was offered or admitted into evidence to offset these factors. Against this backdrop **we** will review Clark's three arguments.

(A) Felony murder

Clark suggests that death is not an appropriate ok available punishment for felony murder. The argument is 'clearly incorrect,

The Florida Legislature has determined that death is appropriate in felony murder cases and has written that determination into the law of this state. See § 921.141, Fla. Stat. Appellate courts do not have discretion to rewrite statutes or disregard legislative intent, even so, this Court has never doubted the applicability of the death penalty to cases involving a murder committed in the course of a robbery. Adams v. State, 341 So.2d 765 (1976); Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984) (murder and robbery of cab driver); Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla.1979) (murder of convenience store clerk during robbery); Burr v. State, 466 So.2d 1051 (Fla.1985)(robbery and execution of store clerk); Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla.1983) (robbery and murder of bartender); Pettit v. State, 17 F.L.W. **S41** (Fla.1992)(robbery and murder of shoppers); Wickham v. State, 16 F.L.W. S777 (Fla.1991) (murder and robbery of good samaritan motorist).

Mr. Clark's cited case of Rembert v. State, 445 So.2d 337 (Fla.1984) upheld the lower court's finding of felony murder (during a robbery) as an aggravating factor but reversed the defendant's sentence because three other aggravating factors were improperly applied and the trial court failed to consider a

substantial body of mitigating evidence. In Clark's cited case of **Caruthers** v. **State**, **465** So.2d **496** (Fla.1985), again, felonymurder (during a robbery) was upheld as an aggravating factor even though the facts of the case led to a reversal of the death sentence,

Of all Mr. Clark's cited cases, however, **Proffitt** v. **State**, 510 \$0.2d 896 (Fla.1987) may have been his poorest choice.

The **Proffitt** opinion states that the mere fact that a murder was committed during **a** burglary could not offset the mitigating evidence at bar. In doing so, however, this Court distinguished **Proffitt** from Mason **v.** State, **438 So.2d 374** (Fla.1983), a case in which a death sentence was upheld because **-** in addition to the felony-murder factor - the defendant had a prior conviction for a violent offense. Thus, if anything, Praffitt explains why death is appropriate here. Mr. Clark not only robbed and murdered his victim, this was his second capital murder conviction and second sentence of death.

(B) "Mitigating Evidence"

No mitigating evidence was offered during the penalty phase of this trial or during the special hearing ordered by the court in February of 1991.

At the February he ring, defense counsel asked the court to take notice of a pretrial competency evaluation (admitted into evidence at a pretrial hearing) by Dr. Miller and a report by Mr. Macaluso that had been filed with the court. (TR 830-836). The reports, however, were not submitted as evidence. No evidence was offered to corroborate or prove much of the background

information (particularly as to Clark's childhood) relied upon by the experts, and no evidence linking these evaluations to the statutory mitigating factors (or even to the crime, as any kind of mitigation) was offered as well.

Dr. Miller's report recognized the existence of a possible, mild, mental disorder but specifically found Clark to have been both sane and competent. Dr. Macaluso's report was much more favorable, but it was largely based upon hearsay and it was not placed in evidence.

Even though the trial court may have examined these reports, it cannot be said that Clark established any mitigating factors.

Section 90.702, Fla. Stat., governs the admission and use of expert testimony. The trial court had to qualify any expert (as an expert) prior to accepting any opinion. Johnson v. State, 438 So.2d 774 (Fla.1983). The court was also required to compel the introduction of a necessary evidentiary predicate for any opinion. Ladd v. State, 564 So.2d 587 (Fla.2nd DCA 1990). Thus, the Court could not simply accept, say, Dr. Macaluso, as an expert without a predicate being laid (including voir dire² by the state) or a stipulation by the parties. Also, the mere fact that Clark told his doctor about child abuse or past psychiatric care does not establish or prove those particular factors. Ladd, (id).

We would note it is unfair to the state to deprive it of voir dire and cross-examination by filing pretrial reports, refusing to put on a defense, and then citing hearsay from those reports as "evidence" on appeal. See State v. **Jones**, 204 So.2d 515 (Fla.1967); Thomas v. State, **326 So.2d 413 (Fla.1975)**.

Given the fact that the "experts" at bar were never qualified in open court as experts capable of evaluating mental mitigating factors, and given the uncorroborated hearsay upon which their opinions were based, it cannot be said that Clark offered "strong" or "uncontested" mitigating evidence. The state could not call and impeach Clark's witnesses for him, and it cannot fairly be subjected to their alleged opinions at this time.

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